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Background: Husband brought action against his
wife, lender, and the District of Columbia, seeking
recovery of $14,500 that was deposited into the
court registry in action challenging foreclosure on
marital property on the grounds that wife had
forged husband's signature on loan documents. The
Superior Court, Shellie Bowers, J., entered a de-
fault judgment against wife subject to review by the
trial judge scheduled to take over the case. The Su-
perior Court, District of Columbia, Gregory Mize,
J., vacated default judgment and found that husband
and wife were entitled to $14,500 as tenants by the
entireties. Husband appealed.

Holdings: The Court of Appeals, Reid, J., held
that:

(1) trial judge's order was an entry of default rather
than a default judgment;

(2) remand was necessary so that trial court could
articulate its reasons for vacating default;

(3) remand was necessary to determine if husband
and wife consented to partition of marital property;
and

(4) remand was necessary to determine if husband
sustained any net losses of interest income on de-
posited money.

Vacated and remanded with instructions.
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In general, the entry of default does not constitute a
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locutory order, whereas a default judgment is a fi-
nal judgment that terminates the litigation and de-
cides the dispute.
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that the default judgment against wife would be re-
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spective equities of husband and wife, whether
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tion of Cause. Most Cited Cases

Remand was necessary for trial court to determine
if there would have been any net return on any in-
terest generated by the $14,500 husband deposited
into court registry after taking into account bank
fees and other charges in husband's action under the
Fifth Amendment, which claimed that District's
transfer of deposited money to District Treasurer as
unclaimed funds over three years old amounted to
an uncompensated taking. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend.
5.

*475 Appeals from the Superior Court of the Dis-
trict of Columbia (CA9279-80). (Hon. Gregory
Mize, Trial Judge).Barbara McDowell, Legal Aid
Society, with whom Rochanda F. Hiligh, Neighbor-
hood Legal Services Program, was on the brief, for
appellant.

Donna M. Murasky, Assistant Attorney General
and Senior Litigation Counsel and Marc B. Tucker,
with whom Robert J. Spagnoletti, Attorney Gener-
al, Edward E. Schwab, Deputy Attorney General,
Appellate Division, and Jennifer Ancona Semko,
were on the brief, for appellees.

FN1. On the day of oral argument in this
case, the Mayor of the District of
Columbia issued an order changing the
name of the Office of Corporation Counsel
to the Office of the Attorney General for
the District of Columbia. See Mayor's Or-
der 2004-92, (May 26, 2004). The follow-
ing day the Office of the Attorney General
for the District of Columbia promulgated
an office order changing the titles of attor-
neys and deputies. See Office of the Attor-
ney General, Office Order No0.2004-28,
(May 27, 2004).

Bernard A. Nigro, Jr. filed a brief in behalf of amici
curiae: The Washington Council of Lawyers, AY -
UDA, Inc., Consortium of Legal Services Pro-
viders, Council of Latino Agencies, Partnership for
Civil Justice, and Public Citizen Litigation Group.
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Before SCHWELB, RUIZ and REID, Associate
Judges.

REID, Associate J.

This case involves very contentious, labyrinthine
litigation relating not only to marital property be-
longing to appellant Morris Arthur and his wife,
Christine Arthur, but also to questions pertaining to
interest on sums of money deposited initially in the
court registry but later transferred to the District of
Columbia Treasurer. Specifically, the issues presen-
ted in this appeal concern the trial court's decision
to vacate the entry of default against Ms. Arthur in
one aspect of the litigation, the relative equities of
Mr. and Ms. Arthur in their marital property, and
the interest earned, if any, on the principal sums
paid into the court registry in this case. Because the
trial court did not address or decide questions es-
sential to appellate resolution, we vacate the trial
court's judgment and remand the case to the trial
court with instructions to address and resolve three
matters consistently with this *476 opinion: (1) the
reason for its decision to vacate the entry of default
against Ms. Arthur; (2) the question of ownership
of the $14,500.00 principal paid into the court re-
gistry, and whether Mr. and Mrs. Arthur have con-
sented to a partition of their marital property which
they acquired as tenants by the entireties and if they
have consented, their relative equities in the prop-
erty; and (3) the determination of how much in-
terest, if any, was earned on the $14,500.00 princip-
al sum and the court-ordered $350.00 security de-
posited in the court registry and later transferred to
the District's general fund; and whether the District
had a fiduciary duty to see that interest was earned
and computed. Furthermore, we hold that any in-
terest earned or which should have been earned on
the sums deposited in the court registry and later
transferred to the District's general fund belonged
to Mr. or Ms. Arthur, or both, and that the District's
retention of such interest constituted a taking for
public use under the Fifth Amendment to the Con-
stitution of the United States; such taking may or
may not require just compensation, depending on

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.


http://www.westlaw.com/Digest/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&CMD=MCC&DocName=170Bk1067
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=1000546&DocName=USCOAMENDV&FindType=L
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=1000546&DocName=USCOAMENDV&FindType=L
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=PROFILER-WLD&DocName=0149783101&FindType=h
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=PROFILER-WLD&DocName=0149783101&FindType=h
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=PROFILER-WLD&DocName=0174848801&FindType=h
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=PROFILER-WLD&DocName=0320832301&FindType=h
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=PROFILER-WLD&DocName=0217529801&FindType=h
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=PROFILER-WLD&DocName=0327415501&FindType=h
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=PROFILER-WLD&DocName=0329754501&FindType=h
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=PROFILER-WLD&DocName=0250279801&FindType=h
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=PROFILER-WLD&DocName=0128403501&FindType=h
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=PROFILER-WLD&DocName=0209060301&FindType=h
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=PROFILER-WLD&DocName=0209060301&FindType=h

857 A.2d 473
(Citeas: 857 A.2d 473)

the net loss suffered by the owner(s) of the depos-
ited funds.

FACTUAL SUMMARY

The record shows that this matter has been in the
courts since 1980 and has had a complicated pro-
cedural history, including a period of dormancy
from around 1982 to 1996, traceable in part to Mr.
Arthur's incarceration from about 1985 to 1996.
The case commenced on July 7, 1980, when Mr.
Arthur filed a complaint for injunction against a
foreclosure sale of the Arthurs marital property
(held under a tenancy by the entireties), located in
the 2600 block of Tenth Street, in the Northeast
guadrant of the District of Columbia. The com-
plaint against Irving Kamins and others alleged that
Ms. Arthur's “whereabouts is presently unknown,”
and that Mr. Kamins had served Mr. Arthur with a
foreclosure notice due to failure to pay a promis-
sory loan note of $14,500.00. Since he had not been
informed of the loan and the signature on the loan
documents was not his, Mr. Arthur sought a judg-
ment declaring the note and the accomeaNné/i ng deed
of trust null and void due to forgery. He also
requested a temporary restraining order, as well as
a preliminary injunction, both of which were gran-
ted. However, the Honorable Paul R. Webber,
11 ordered him to “deposit additional security of
$650 cash into the registry of the Court, in monthly
installments of $65 each by the 10th Eﬁ?& of each
month commencing October 10, 1980.”

FN2. Later, it was revealed that Mr. Ar-
thur's brother had signed Mr. Arthur's
name to the loan documents, with Ms. Ar-
thur's knowledge, because the Arthurs
were experiencing severe marital prob-
lems, including domestic violence by Mr.
Arthur.

FN3. The order granting the preliminary
injunction was filed on September 10,
1980, after an evidentiary hearing during
which Mr. Arthur testified that he did not
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sign the loan documents, and that “when
he awoke on May 1, 1980 ‘the house was
empty’; his family had gone.”

FN4. Mr. Arthur was unable to pay the
amount ordered, but earlier, on August 12,
1980, had paid $350 into the court registry
as security.

When Mr. Arthur was unable to meet monthly
mortgage payments on the marital property, he and
Mr. Kamins reached an agreement to avoid fore-
closure. To reflect their agreement, they filed a
stipulation in the trial court on February 9, 1981,
designed “to permit the sale of the property....”
“[T]he sum of $14,500.00 of the gross proceeds of
[the] sale [of the marital property] [was] place[d] ...
into the Registry of the Court, to be held pending
*477 final disposition of this suit.” The stipulation
required whatever sum remained after the
“satisfaction of the note” to be “disburse[d] ... to
[Mr. and Ms.] Arthur ... in accordance with their
equities in [the marital property].” Ms. Arthur was
not a party to the stipulation.

In light of the stipulation and the deposited funds,
however, Ms. Arthur was a necessary party. See Su-
per. Ct. Civ. R. 19(b). Hence, on September 16,
1982, the trial court, the Honorable Joseph M. Han-
non, “removed [the case of Morris Arthur v. Irving
Kamins, et al.] from the trial calendar” and ordered
Mr. Arthur's counsel to make Ms. Arthur a party to
his lawsuit, and to serve her with a copy of the
complaint within 30 days. In response to Mr. Ar-
thur's motion, the time to serve Ms. Arthur was ex-
tended to November 15, 1982. "N® At this point,
the case became dormant since Ms. Arthur was not
served and the case was not restored to the calen-
dar.

FN5. The tria court considered her an in-
dispensable party.

FNG6. In his November 5, 1982 motion to
extend time to serve Ms. Arthur, Mr. Ar-
thur's counsel averred that he had “only

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.
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learned [Ms. Arthur's] address [in Phil-
adelphia] on October 29, 1982,” and that a
summons and complaint had been sent to
her on November 1, 1982 by certified mail.

On February 17, 1988, the civil finance office of
the Superior Court of the District of Columbia sent
a check to the D.C. Treasurer in the amount of
51514,850.00.':N7 A praecipe noted, “Unclaimed de-
posits over 3 years old.” Consequently no funds
pertaining to this case remained in the court re-
gistry. There is no indication in the record that the
parties were notified about the transfer of the de-
posit from the court registry to the D.C. Treasurer.

FN7. The $14,850.00 included the
$14,500.00 deposited after the sale of the
property, and the $350.00 which the trial
court ordered Mr. Arthur to pay into the
court registry on August 12, 1980.

The case was lifted from its dormancy when Abra-
ham Zaiderman, successor in interest to Mr. Kam-
ins, duly moved on July 30, 1995, to restore the
case to the active docket. He indicated that he
would take steps to locate Mr. and Mrs. Arthur, and
would “request that funds released from the court
registry be restored....” The court granted the mo-
tion on August 29, 1995. Thereafter, in mid-
October 1995, Mr. Zaiderman filed two motions,
one to join the District of Columbia as a party or
third party plaintiff, and the other to restore the
$14,850.00 to the court registry. On December 22,
1995, the District responded, asserting that the
funds should be deemed abandoned under the
[District of Columbia] Disposition of Unclaimed
Property Act, D.C.Code 88 42-201 et seq. (1990).
The Honorable Stephen Milliken denied Mr. Zaid-
erman's motion relating to the restoration of the
$14,850.00 to the court registry and granted the
sum to the District as abandoned property.

In addition to his effort to restore the funds to the
court registry, Mr. Zaiderman filed a counterclaim
against Mr. Arthur on August 31, 1996, seeking to
have disbursed to him (that is, to Mr. Zaiderman)
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“$14,500.00 plus interest from March 10, 1980, to
date of the entry of judgment at the rate provided
for in the [promissory loan] Note.” He also moved
to add Ms. Arthur's name as a party plaintiff; this
motion was granted on September 23, 1996.

New attorneys for Mr. Arthur entered their appear-
ance on March 12, 1997, and filed motions de-
signed to secure for Mr. Arthur all the funds origin-
ally placed in the court registry, and interest there-
on. For example, on August 6, 1997, Mr. Arthur
filed a motion for “summary judgment* 478 against
the District of Columbia on any claim it may have
as a third-party defendant to the $14,850.00 paid in-
to the court registry in this matter and to the interest
earned (approximately $8,000.00 to date) on that
sum since February 17, 1988.” The motions
were intended to establish that neither Ms. Arthur,
Mr. Zaiderman, nor the District had any right to
those funds or the interest that Mr. Arthur alleged
should have accumulated through the years, and
that such interest properly belonged to him. In
1998, the Honorable Shellie Bowers entered a
“default judgment” against Ms. Arthur, subject to
review by the trial judge scheduled to take over the
later stage of the case, the Honorable Gregory
Mize. When Judge Mize assumed responsibility for
the case, he scheduled a jury trial that took place
from July 24-26, 2000. After hearing testimony
from several individuals at the trial, including
former counsel for Mr. Arthur, Ms. Arthur, and her
mother, the court resolved all of the issues as a mat-
ter of law, and dismissed the jury. An order sum-
marizing its oral rulings was signed on July 27,
2000, and docketed on August 10, 2000. The trial
court concluded that Mr. Zaiderman “is entitled to
nothing” “as a matter of law,” and that Mr. Arthur
and Ms. Arthur “are entitled to $14,500.00 as ten-
ants by the entireties.” The trial court also vacated
the entry of default against Ms. Arthur “on [Mr.]
Arthur's cross[-]claim against her ... because it is
contrary to established D.C. statutes and case law,”
and hence the court denied Mr. Arthur's
cross[-]claim “as [a] matter of law.” Subsequently,
on October 17, 2000, the court docketed an order
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denying prejudgment interest on both the $350.00
sum paid into the court registry by Mr. Arthur, and
the $14,500.00, because “there is no legal basis for
interest to accrue in [Mr. Arthur's] favor on [these
sums].” Mr. Arthur filed timely notices of appeal.

FN8. The proposed order attached to the
motion contained proposed conclusions of
law. Paragraph 4 of those conclusions
guoted from a Supreme Court decision per-
taining to the Fifth Amendment's guarantee
against “a forced contribution to general
government revenues.” Webb's Fabulous
Pharms. v. Beckwith, 449 U.S. 155, 163,
101 S.Ct. 446, 66 L.Ed.2d 358 (1980).

ANALYSIS

This appeal requires us to focus on three matters:
(1) the trial court's decision to vacate the default
judgment against Ms. Arthur; (2) the ownership of
the $14,500.00 in proceeds from the marital prop-
erty of Mr. and Ms. Arthur; and (3) interest on the
sums deposited in the court registry and later trans-
ferred to the District's general fund. We turn first to
the entry of default issue.

Entry of Default

We begin by providing a factual context for our
analysis. On April 17, 1997, some seventeen years
after his complaint initiating this case was filed,
Mr. Arthur lodged a motion for leave to file a
cross-claim against Ms. Arthur, who had been ad-
ded as a co-plaintiff, and whose time for entering
an appearance in the case had been extended to
April 27, 1997. Mr. Arthur's cross-claim sought a
judgment declaring that Ms. Arthur's actions in ar-
ranging for someone else to sign his name on the
$14,500.00 loan note and deed of trust “w[ere]
fraudulent and inequitable and did not entitle her to
any portion of the $14,500 paid into the court re-
gistry.” Simultaneously, Mr. Arthur requested
“entry of default judgment” against Ms. Arthur on
his cross-claim. He based his request upon Ms. Ar-
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thur's failure to enter an appearance and to file an
answer after she was added as a co-plaintiff. As he
put it: “The Order of Publication in this case *479
plainly placed Ms. Arthur on notice that any claim
she has to the $14,500 in the court registry will be
extinguished if she does not cause her appearance
to be entered.” Citing Super. Ct. Civ. R. 55(b)(2),
he further asserted that: “An application for judg-
ment by default need not be served on Ms. Arthur,
because she did not respond to the Order of Public-
ation.”

During a November 14, 1997, hearing before Judge
Bowers, Mr. Arthur's motion for leave to file the
cross-claim and for entry of default judgment was
discussed. Judge Bowers reported that his chambers
received a telephone call from Ms. Arthur advising
that she was in South Carolina and would not be in
court. Mr. Arthur's counsel reported that he had
spoken with Ms. Arthur who “indicated in commu-
nications to [him] that she does not plan to become
involved because she faces criminal liability for
forgery if she does and that she has elected all
along not to get involved for that reason.” The trial
court granted Mr. Arthur's motion for leave to file
the amended cross-claim reflecting this informa-
tion.

At a hearing on May 29, 1998, Judge Bowers de-
clared that he had entered a “default judgment”
against Ms. Arthur on April 27, 1998. Those
present claimed that they did not receive the order.
Subsequently, during a hearing on July 31, 1998,
the parties informed Judge Bowers that they did not
receive the order entering judgment of default
against Ms. Arthur on Mr. Arthur's amended cross-
claim. Judge Bowers responded that the order had
been entered because there was a reference to it in
another order granting Mr. Arthur's motion to strike
Mr. Zaiderman's amended counterclaim against Ms.
Arthur. That order stated in relevant part:

In view of the default judgment rendered against
her on this date, Christine Arthur no longer has
any interest in the registry funds which could be
subject to any counterclaim. This default judg-
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ment was based not upon any alleged ruling from
the bench on December 19, 1997, but from the
fact that, as of April 27, 1998, she'd filed no re-
sponsive pleading to the amended cross[-]claim
of [plaintiff], Morris Arthur, which was served on
her on November 31, 1997[sic].

After the court finished reading the docket entry,
counsel for the District asserted: “Ms. Arthur has
testified under oath that she can't come forward be-
cause she's been threatened by Mr. Arthur....”
When the trial court reiterated its view that Ms. Ar-
thur had filed no pleading since being served in
November 1997, counsel for the District referenced
filings then recently made, and mentioned Ms. Ar-
thur's “fear for her life,” Mr. Arthur's alleged at-
tacks on Ms. Arthur, and his incarceration “for 11
years for assault with intent to kill.” 9 Upon fur-
ther discussion at the July 31, 1998 hearing, relative
to the reasons why Ms. Arthur had not filed a re-
sponsive* 480 pleading once she was added as a co-
plaintiff, the trial court commented that it would
sign the order entering “default judgment” and
“indicating [Ms. Arthur] has no interest, but ...
[would] put a footnote on [the order]” to show that
“[t]his is all subject to reconsideration ... once [the
court] hear [s] ... [further] evidence....” The trial
court then signed an order, dated July 31, 1998,
“nunc pro tunc to April 27, 1998.” In the final para-
graph of its order, the trial court declared:

FN9. On June 8, 1998, counsel for Mr.
Zaiderman took the sworn deposition of
Ms. Arthur. She stated that she took her
children and left Mr. Arthur in 1980. She
“feared for [her] life because [Mr. Arthur]
told [her] if [she] ever left and took the
kids ... he would kill [her].” Although she
was reluctant to discuss her relationship
with Mr. Arthur, she related that on one
occasion Mr. Arthur “kicked [her] in [her]
back, and [she] had to go to the hospital ...
and ... [her] arm was put in a sling.” Be-
cause of their children, at least four of
whom resided with Ms. Arthur during the
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early period of this litigation, Mr. Arthur
remained in contact with them after Ms.
Arthur left their home. Although Mr. Ar-
thur was in prison from about 1985 to
1996, when he was released, Ms. Arthur
was present when he “stop[ped] by to see
[his] son and his granddaughter” approx-
imately three times around 1980, but did
not discuss the litigation.

FURTHER ORDERED, that a default judg-
ment is entered on this Cross-Complaint against
[Ms.] Arthur, and in favor of [Mr.] Arthur, DE-
CLARING:

[Ms] Arthur has no equity in the $14,500
paid into the court registry as against plaintiff
[Mr.] Arthur. First American Insurance Com-
pany (successor in interest to Columbia Real
Estate Title Insurance Company, which suc-
ceeded to the interest of Washington Title &
Abstract Corporation) is so instructed, in ac-
cordance with the “Stipulation” filed with this
court on or about February 9, 1981.

FN10. In the first part of its July 31, 1998
order, the trial court found that “[t]he
Amended Cross-Complaint was personally
served on [Ms. Arthur] on November 21,
1997,” and “[m]ore than twenty days have
passed and Ms. Arthur has filed no re-
sponse to the Amended Cross-Complaint.”
The court further ordered that “the allega-
tions in paragraph 1-8 of the Amended
Cross-Complaint [detailing Ms. Arthur's
alleged fraud with respect to the promis-
sory loan note] are taken as true.”

The trial court added a footnote to its order which
reads: “This default judgment against [Ms.] Arthur
on [Mr.] Arthur's Amended Cross-Complaint will
be revisited and reconsidered following the hearing
and resolution of [Mr.] Zaiderman's recently filed
Motion to Vacate Summary Judgment Order of
September 27, 1997 and to Restore Case to Trial
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Docket.” FN11

FN11. The record contains a motion by
Mr. Zaiderman, dated July 21, 1998, and
styled: “Motion to Vacate Summary Judg-
ment Order of October 27, 1997 and Re-
store Case to Trial Docket for Determina-
tion of Merits.” The motion “urg[ed] the
court to vacate the summary judgment
entered October 27, 1997 in favor of [Mr.]
Arthur on his claim of forgery of the Note
of March 10, 1980 [the note concerning the
$14,500 loan obtained by Ms. Arthur].”

Judge Bowers held a hearing on October 29, 1998,
on Mr. Zaiderman's motion to vacate the summary
judgment that had been entered in favor of Mr. Ar-
thur on Mr. Zaiderman's forgery claim. Ms. Arthur
testified at the hearing. The trial court denied Mr.
Zaiderman's motion to vacate summary judgment.

With respect to the previously entered default judg-
ment against Ms. Arthur, the trial court noted that
“not one question was ever put to [Ms. Arthur at the
October 29, 1998 hearing,] about why she didn't
file an opposition after being served” on November
21, 1997, or “why she didn't look for a lawyer after
being served with [Mr. Arthur's] amended com-
plaint” against her. Mr. Zaiderman's counsel poin-
ted out that the cross-claim was not before the court
and that Ms. Arthur was not represented by coun-
sel. Eventually, the trial court gave Ms. Arthur until
November 30, 1998, to seek leave for a late re-
sponse to “the papers on the amended cross[-]claim
... of [Mr.] Arthur.”

The next hearing took place on December 10, 1998,
in the presence of counsel for Mr. Arthur, Mr. Zaid-
erman, and the District. Ms. Arthur was present,
without counsel. Judge Bowers inquired as to
whether Ms. Arthur had obtained counsel. She re-
sponded, “no” and requested that the trial court
provide counsel. The trial *481 court explained, “in
civil cases we don't appoint lawyers to represent
civil litigants.” Ms. Arthur then requested addition-
al time to file an answer, saying that she planned to
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meet with a lawyer that afternoon. The court ad-
monished Ms. Arthur that she had already been giv-
en extended time to respond to the amended cross-
claim, and added: “You have not met the deadline,
the November 30th deadline, so you may file
whatever you wish to file and the court will deal
with it accordingly.”

FN12. The December 10, 1998 hearing
was a contentious one during which the tri-
al court repeatedly instructed counsel for
Mr. Zaiderman and the District that they
could not represent Ms. Arthur. Mr. Zaid-
erman’s attorney pressed the court to ap-
point counsel for Ms. Arthur, and the Dis-
trict's counsel had assisted her by adding a
certificate of service page and filing a mo-
tion for Ms. Arthur requesting additional
time to obtain counsel. Ms. Arthur re-
marked that because she lived in South
Carolina and had no job, it was difficult to
find counsel in the District.

As the trial court listened further to the arguments
of counsel and Ms. Arthur, particularly about alleg-
ations of “fraud” or “forgery” by Mr. Arthur con-
cerning the signing of the deed that led to the sale
of the marital property pursuant to the stipulation
with Mr. Kamins, the trial judge expressed concern.
He revealed that he had given some thought to
“setting aside” the “default judgment” against Ms.
Arthur and letting the case proceed to trial. But to-
ward the end of the hearing the trial court stated:

Now, Ms. Christine Arthur may file whatever
she wishes. The deadline for filing was Novem-
ber 30th[, 1998] for her[, i]f she wanted to file
anything, such as ... a motion to vacate the de-
fault against her for failing to respond to the
cross[-]claim.

But whatever she wishes to file, she may still
file it but it's now out of time. And the Court,
whoever rules on it, will have to deal with that if
it's brought up as an issue. The deadline was
November 30, but that doesn't mean she can't file.
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She may still file with or without a lawyer.

Judge Bowers also observed that the next trial
judge assigned to the case, Judge Mize, “may va-
cate out ... my rulings, it's up to him.”

Because he had given additional thought to the
case, Judge Bowers called the parties together on
December 18, 1998. Without making findings, the
trial court reported its understanding that “[t]here
are two separate issues of fraud being raised....”
One related to the allegation that Mr. Arthur
“forged the deed [for the sale of the Arthurs' marital
home] which led to the funds which are now ... in
the custody of the District....” The other fraud issue
pertained to the allegation that Mr. Arthur “knew
where his wife was all of this time and for al of
these years.... and was purposely keeping her away
from the case.” Judge Bowers confirmed his de-
cision to grant the motion for “default judgment”
against Ms. Arthur:

When [Ms. Arthur] came in here and sort of re-
surfaced and | gave her some more time, the de-
fault had not been set aside. What | was giving
her more time to do was to file a motion to set
aside the default. And she didn't do that. So, that
default is still out there against her.

FN13. The trial court appeared to take the
position that although a “ default judgment”
had been entered against Ms. Arthur, she
might remain in the case with respect to
the alleged fraud of Mr. Arthur pertaining
to the sale of the marital home, and the dis-
tribution of the $14,500 resulting from the
sale.

On May 18, 1999, and pursuant to Super. Ct. Civ.
R. 55 and R. 60, counsel for Ms. *482 Arthur filed
a “motion to vacate the prior order of default
entered against her” in 1998, “and to dismiss [Mr.]
Arthur's cross[-]claim against her....” Ms. Arthur
declared that under Super. Ct. Civ. R. 55(c), the tri-
al court “is authorized ... to set aside the default
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previously entered without filing a verified answer
to [Mr.] Arthur's crosg[-]claim upon taking judicial
notice of the Stipulation of February 9, 1981.” She
argued, “that stipulation operates as a settlement to
govern the adjudication of the rights of [Mr.] Ar-
thur and [Ms.] Arthur in respect of their interests,
one to the other, in the funds held in the Court re-
gistry.” She also claimed that Mr. Arthur had kept
knowledge of the pending IZI}\II %ftion from her during
the period 1980 to 1998. And, she cited her
difficulty obtaining counsel, her request for counsel
and her prior testimony in the case as evidence of
her intent to put up a defense.

FN14. Although Ms. Arthur “was served
with [Mr. Arthur's cross-claim] ... in
November 1997, it ... was woefully defi-
cient to demonstrate to her that she had
any stake in any funds which had been
paid into the Court registry nearly 17 years
earlier.”

The case proceeded to trial and during his explana-
tion to the jury about the issues to be considered at
the July 2000 trial, Judge Mize remarked: “[Ms.]
Arthur, who was called into the case in 1982, was
found by the court at a prior time to have no equity
in the $14,500.” As the case unfolded, Ms. Arthur
and her mother were called as witnesses in behalf
of Mr. Zaiderman. While Ms. Arthur's mother, Nel-
lie M. Gibson, who resides in Philadelphia, was
giving testimony, an objection arose which led
Judge Mize to review Judge Bowers' July 31, 1998
order indicating that Ms. Arthur has no equity in
the $14,500.00 at issue in the case. After reviewing
the order, Judge Mize allowed Ms. Gibson to testify
that while her daughter and her children were stay-
ing with her in Philadelphia, Mr. Arthur found out
in December 1980 that she was there, and jour-
neyed to Philadel phia.

Ms. Arthur followed her mother on the witness
stand. At the time of her testimony, she resided in
Latta, South Carolina. As she began to respond to
certain questions and objections were raised, the tri-
a judge inquired: “[H]asn't [Ms.] Arthur failed to
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do some significant things, and thereby placed her-
self in a defaulting or disqualifying mode as to the
money? | mean, the order of July '98 would not
have been issued, perhaps, if Ms. Arthur had asser-
ted something, but she didn't.” When Ms. Arthur re-
sumed her testimony on July 26, 2000, she revealed
that she did not ask Mr. Arthur to co-sign the
$14,500.00 loan note because of her “fear of phys-
ical violence ...[and because she] was afraid of
him.” She detailed her fear by citing examples:

Well, | was afraid because once | had to go to
Providence Hospital where he had kicked me in
my back and | had a nervous condition with my
arm, and there had been different-- several times,
once | was pregnant and he had choked me, and |
fainted. | went out.

She left the marital home in May 1980, stayed with
afriend for a week and then went to Philadel phia to
stay with her parents. After she moved in with her
parents, she communicated with Mr. Arthur
“[b]ecause [their] kids wanted to see him.” Mr. Ar-
thur visited them in December 1980, but she was
unable to contact him “[flrom 1989 until 1996"
since he was in prison.

Ms. Arthur said she first heard about the litigation
before the court in 1996 or 1997 “when [she]
moved to South Carolina.” She was not aware that
her marital home had been sold until then; she *483
thought the mortgage company had foreclosed on
the property. After Ms. Arthur became aware that
the home had been sold, her husband instructed her
to “stay out of [the matter],” that he “was going to
handle it.” Ms. Arthur acknowledged that counsel
for Mr. Arthur had sent her a letter in November
1997, explaining the $14,500.00 sum and advising
her to retain counsel. She also confirmed that she
had sent a letter to Mr. Arthur's counsel indicating
that she “did not have any interest in seeking the
money.” The trial court gave Ms. Arthur the oppor-
tunity to provide testimony as a party. In the course
of that testimony, she stated that when Mr. Arthur's
counsel called her, he told her that the $14,500.00
was not hers, “that it was [her] husband's money...."
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On the afternoon of July 26, the trial court resolved
the outstanding issues in the case as a matter of
law, and dismissed the jury. Counsel for Mr. Arthur
twice protested the trial court's decision to reverse
Judge Bowers' order of July 31, 1998, as it related
to Ms. Arthur. He said: “She failed to file an an-
swer, we got a default on that issue, and there has
been adjudication that she has no equity in those
funds, and it all goesto Mr. Arthur.” Thetrial judge
did not address the default issue at this point. A
little later in the discussion with the trial judge,
counsel for Mr. Arthur argued that Ms. Arthur
“raised absolutely no defense, a year passed, de-
fault was entered against her.” The trial court con-
cluded that because the $14,500.00 in the court re-
gistry “must be released to [Mr. and Ms. Arthur] as
tenants by the entirety,” “plainly there is nothing
left to decide,” and did not respond to counsel's ar-
guments concerning the entry of the default judg-
ment. And, in its written order summarizing its oral
rulings, the trial court stated only: “The order of Ju-
ly 31, 1998 entering a default judgment against
[Ms.] Arthur on [Mr.] Arthur's cross[-]claim against
her was vacated because it is contrary to established
D.C. statutes and case law.”

We turn now to the provisions governing our resol-
ution of the “default judgment” issue. Preliminarily,
the trial court correctly concluded that it had au-
thority to revisit Judge Bowers' order declaring that
Ms. Arthur had no equity in the $14,500.00. “
‘Judges are constantly reexamining their prior rul-
ings in a case on the basis of new information or ar-
gument or just fresh thoughts...." ” Blyther v. Ches-
apeake & Potomac Tel. Co., 661 A.2d 658, 662
(D.C.1995) (quoting Johnson v. Burken, 930 F.2d
1202, 1207 (7th Cir.1991)) (Ruiz, J., concurring).
Since the order entering “default judgment” against
Ms. Arthur did not adjudicate all the claims or
rights and liabilities of the parties, it was proper for
Judge Mize to revisit and to revise that order. The
central problem, here, however, is that Judge Mize
did not indicate hisreasons for vacating the April/Ju-
ly 1998 order against Ms. Arthur.
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[1] In her motion to vacate the default and dismiss
Mr. Arthur's cross-claim, Ms. Arthur cited Super.
Ct. Civ. R. 55 and 60 as the authority for her mo-
tion. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 55(a) concerns entry of de-
fault whereas Rule 55(b) pertains to entry of default
judgment. We have distinguished previously
between the entry of default and a default judg-
ment. “In general, the entry of default does not con-
stitute a judgment, but simply precludes the default-
ing party from offering any further defense on the
issue of liability.” Lockhart v. Cade, 728 A.2d 65,
68 (D.C.1999) (citing Clark v. Moler, 418 A.2d
1039, 1042 (D.C.1980) (other citation omitted));
Miranda v. Contreras, 754 A.2d 277, 280 n. 4
(D.C.2000). “An entry of default is simply an inter-
locutory order, whereas a default judgment ‘is a fi-
nal judgment that terminates* 484 the litigation and
decides the dispute’ " Lockhart, supra at 68
(quoting Clark, supra at 1042); see also Restaurant
Equip. & Supply Depot, Inc. v. Gutierrez, 852 A.2d
951, 956 (D.C.2004); Digital Broad. Corp. V.
Rosenman & Colin, L.L.P., 847 A.2d 384, 387 n. 5
(D.C.2004). Whereas Rule 55(c) provides for set-
ting aside a default, see generally 10 JAMES WM.
ET. AL., MOORE'S FEDERAL PRACTICE, § 55
(3d ed.2004); 10A CHARLES ALAN WRIGHT,
ET. AL., FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCED-
URE, § 2681 et seq., (1998), Super. Ct. Civ. R.
60(b) governs setting aside a default judgment.

[2] Here, Judge Bowers styled his July 31, 1998 or-
der as a “default judgment” against Ms. Arthur, but
it is clear that it is not a “final judgment that ter-
minates the litigation [against Ms. Arthur] and de-
cides the dispute.” Lockhart, supra at 68 (quoting
Clark, supra at 1042). This is so because, despite
the finding that the allegations of Mr. Arthur's
amended cross-complaint that allege forgery by Ms.
Arthur are taken as true, footnote 1 of that order
precludes finality. As Judge Bowers noted: “This
default judgment against [Ms.] Arthur on [Mr.] Ar-
thur's Amended Cross-Complaint will be revisited
and reconsidered following the hearing and resolu-
tion of [Mr.] Zaiderman's recently-filed Motion to
Vacate Summary Judgment Order of September 27,
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1997 and to Restore the Case to Trial Docket.”
Thus, the order of July 31, 1998 is appropriately
considered as an order entering default under Su-
per. Ct. Civ. R. 55(a), and one to be revisited.

FN15. Super. Ct. Civ. R. 55(a) provides in
pertinent part:

(a) Entry. When a party against whom a
judgment for affirmative relief is sought
has failed to plead or otherwise defend
as provided by these Rules, the Clerk or
the Court shall enter the party's default.
Any order of default entered sua sponte,
including a default for failure to respond
to the complaint within the time pre-
scribed in Rule 12(a), shall not take ef-
fect until fourteen (14) days after the
date on which it is docketed and shall be
vacated upon the granting of a motion
filed by defendant within such 14 day
period showing good cause why the de-
fault should not be entered....

Super. Ct. Civ. R. 12(a) does not apply
here since Judge Bowers extended the
time for Ms. Arthur to respond to Mr.
Arthur's amended cross-claim on more
than one occasion. See Restaurant
Equip. & Supply Depot, Inc., supra, at
955nn. 2, 3

[3] Since the July 31, 1998 order reflects the entry
of default against Ms. Arthur, the standard for set-
ting it aside is found in Super. Ct. Civ. R. 55(c)
which states:

(c) Setting aside default. For good cause shown,
and upon the filing of averified answer setting up
a defense sufficient if proved to bar the claim in
whole or in part, the Court may set aside an entry
of default. No answer need be filed if the movant
accompanies the motion with a settlement agree-
ment or a proposed consent judgment signed by
both parties. In addition, an answer shall not be
required when the movant asserts a lack of sub-
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ject-matter or personal jurisdiction or when the
default was entered after the movant had filed an
answer.

Rule 55(c) requires a showing of good cause before
a default may be set aside. A second requirement is
the filing of a verified answer, unless (1) the motion
to vacate the default is accompanied by “a settle-
ment agreement or a proposed consent judgment
signed by both parties’; or (2) there is an assertion
that the court lacks subject-matter or personal juris-
diction; or (3) “the default was entered after the
movant had filed an answer.” See Clark, supra, 418
A.2d at 1041 n. 4. Moreover, the *485 decision
whether to vacate the entry of default is committed
to the sound discretion of the trial court. See Rubin
v. Lee, 577 A.2d 1158, 1160 (D.C.1990) (citing
Firemen's Ins. Co. of Washington, D.C. v. Belts,
455 A.2d 908, 909 (D.C.1983)); see also Restaur-
ant Equip. & Supply Depot, Inc., supra, 852 A.2d at
956. “In exercising its discretion, the trial court
must choose what is right and equitable under the
circumstances and the law and state the reasons
which support its conclusion.” Rubin, supra, 577
A.2d at 1160 (citing Johnson v. United States, 398
A.2d 354, 361-64 (D.C.1979)) (internal quotation
marks omitted).

[4] Here, on this record, the trial court's reasons for
vacating the default against Ms. Arthur are not ar-
ticulated clearly. More is needed than a statement
that the entry of default “is contrary to established
D.C. statutes and case law,” especialy in light of
the requirements set forth in Super. Ct. Civ. R.
55(c). Therefore, we are constrained to remand this
matter to the trial court for a statement of reasons
supporting its decision to vacate the default against
Ms. Arthur. First, the trial court must address
whether “good cause [has been] shown” to justify
vacating the default. In that regard, the trial court
may consider whether the entry of default was inap-
propriate in the first instance. If there is evidence
that Ms. Arthur satisfied the “or otherwise defend”
clause of Super. Ct. Civ. R. 55(a), see Restaurant
Equip. & Supply Depot, Inc., supra, 852 A.2d at
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956, the entry of default may have been inappropri-
ate, or the order should have been vacated at an
earlier point in time, as Judge Bowers contem-
plated. In discussing the “or otherwise defend”
clause, Charles Alan Wright, et al., explain:

The mere appearance by a defending party,
without more, will not prevent the entry of a de-
fault for failure to plead or otherwise defend,
however. But if defendant appears and indicates a
desire to contest the action, the court can exercise
its discretion and refuse to enter a default. This
approach is in line with the general policy that
whenever there is doubt whether a default should
be entered, the court ought to allow the case to be
tried on the merits.

Id. 8§ 2682 at 18 (footnotes omitted). Despite the
fact that Mr. Arthur filed his complaint in 1980 and
took steps to sell the marital property in 1981, Ms.
Arthur, who testified as to her fear of Mr. Arthur
and her belief that the lender had foreclosed on the
home, did not receive notice until 1997 or 1998 that
the marital home actually had been sold, despite the
fact that Mr. Arthur knew she lived with her parents
in Philadelphia after she left the marital home in
1980. In addition, Ms. Arthur telephoned the
judge's chambers to explain her absence due to her
residence in South Carolina; appeared at a hearing
in November 1997; requested counsel to defend
her; gave a deposition in June 1998; testified at a
hearing in October 1998, as well as at trial, in 2000;
and earlier had appeared at a hearing held in
December 1998. The trial court should consider in
the first instance whether these actions on her part
satisfied the “or otherwise defend” clause of Rule
55(a), and whether her sworn testimony represented
the equivalent of a verified answer to Mr. Arthur's
amended cross-claim.

In addition to the “good cause” requirement of Rule
55(c), the trial court on remand must address the
exceptions to the mandate in Rule 55(c) that a veri-
fied answer be filed. Only one of the exceptions
may fit this case, as appellees argue, that is, the fil-
ing of “a settlement agreement or a proposed con-
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sent judgment signed by both parties” with the mo-
tion to vacate default. Whether the February 9,
1981 stipulation between Mr. Arthur and Mr. *486
Kamins agreeing that the Arthurs were entitled to
receive the remaining funds on the sale of the mar-
ital property as tenants by the entireties would sat-
isfy this exception even though Ms. Arthur did not
sign it isamatter for initial consideration by the tri-
al court.

The $14,500.00 principal

Mr. Arthur maintains that even if Ms. Arthur's
claim is before the court, the entire principal sum of
$14,500.00 paid into the court registry should be
distributed solely to him. Consequently, once the
trial court resolves the default issue on remand, the
question as to the distribution of the $14,500.00
also should be addressed on remand. The trial court
ruled that because the note and deed on the property
were void as a matter of law, Mr. and Ms. Arthur
are “entitled to the entire $14,500.00 as tenants by
the entirety,” and ordered the D.C. Treasurer “to
forthwith issue a check to them.” However,
prior to any distribution of this sum, the trial court
must determine whether Mr. and Ms. Arthur have
consented to a partition of the property which they
acquired as tenants by the entireties. In the event
Mr. and Ms. Arthur have consented to a partition,
then the court must determine the relative equities
of each in the marital property.

FN16. The noteholder did not appeal the
trial court's ruling.

We turn first to the factual underpinning of our dis-
cussion of these issues. Counsel for Mr. Arthur and
Mr. Kamins executed and filed a stipulation on
February 9, 1981, paragraph 4 of which provided:

Upon entry of final judgment in this case, and
disposition of any appea therefrom, the Court
shall disburse to Washington Title and Abstract
Corporation any portion of the $14,500.00 that is
not ordered paid over to defendants in satisfac-
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tion of the note. Washington Title and Abstract
Corp. shall then disburse such amount to [Mr.]
Arthur and [Ms.] Arthur in accordance with their
equities in said property [that is, the marital
home].

At the July 2000 trial, Ms. Arthur's mother, Nellie
Gibson, testified that she and her husband gave Ms.
Arthur $1,500.00 in the 1970s as a gift to assist
with the purchase of a home. Subsequently, at Ms.
Arthur's request, Ms. Gibson and her husband let
Ms. Arthur have an additional sum of $1,300.00.
During her testimony, Ms. Arthur stated that at the
time of purchase, she “was working” and was “the
only one that ever paid the house note, and [her]
parents had given [her] money and [she] had bor-
rowed money occasionally [to] keep[ ] the notes
going....” Ms. Arthur was employed at a fish market
owned by her brothers-in-law. Mr. Arthur made im-
provements to the marital property: “added on a sun
deck”; “extended the carport”; and “made a sub-
basement.” Ms. Arthur “paid for the materials.” Mr.
Arthur used his veteran's benefits to obtain aloan to
purchase the marital home, but other than a period
of three months during which he worked and gave
Ms. Arthur $50 per week, he did not assist with
family expenses. Ms. Arthur voiced her belief that
she was entitled to the money in the court registry,
even though counsel for Mr. Arthur “told [her] that
the money was not [herg], that it was [her] hus-
band's money, and that he was going to win the
money for my husband.” Mr. *487 Arthur did
not testify, but Judge Mize summarized the respect-
ive efforts of both Mr. and Ms. Arthur as follows:

FN17. Ms. Arthur stated:

| feel that if anyone should have this
money, as hard as | struggled all those
years trying to keep that house, and my
husband did not work but three months
the whole time there, | feel as though |
should get the money, my parents be re-
imbursed the money that they have given
to me .... [M]y husband has not contrib-
uted one penny and not one house note
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at al, ever, not ever. And everything that
was bought in that house from materials
to furniture, everything, | did. And that
sumsit up.

I think it's very reasonable to infer from [Ms.]
Arthur's testimony that the property was acquired
during their marital years, and she put up money,
and he put up his energy and attention and helped
close the deal. And then [he] put sweat |abor into
improving the property thereafter.

[5] It is undisputed that Mr. and Ms. Arthur held
their home as tenants by the entireties. We have
said previously that:

A tenancy by the entirety is a form of concur-
rent ownership which resembles a joint tenancy,
but exists only between a husband and wife. This
form of concurrent ownership is a product of the
common-law doctrine that a husband and wife are
one person and are each seized of the entire es-
tate. The most significant incidents of this con-
current estate are the unilaterally indestructible
right of survivorship; the inability of either
spouse, acting alone, to alienate his [or her] in-
terest in the property; and the broad immunity
from the claims of separate creditors .... Aslong
as the parties are united in marriage, neither
spouse can effectively convey an interest in the
estate nor compel a partition of the property
without the other's consent.

Travis v. Benson, 360 A.2d 506, 509 (D.C.1976)
(citations omitted); see also Finley v. Thomas, 691
A.2d 1163, 1165 & n. 1 (D.C.1997); Ridgely v.
Ridgely, 188 A.2d 296, 297 (D.C.1963) (citation
omitted). But thisFLIulri83diction permits a judicially
ordered partition of lands under D.C.Code §
16-2901 (2001). And, a cotenant enjoys a unilateral
right of partition. See Carter v. Carter, 516 A.2d
917, 919 (D.C.1986). This unilateral right of parti-
tion “makes it possible for any dissatisfied cotenant
to, in effect, withdraw from and dissolve the quasi-
partnership that cotenancy entails.” Id. Neverthe-
less, as we said in Carter, “the right to partition,
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while normally an integral part of the cotenancy
form of ownership, is like most property rights sub-
ject to possible limitation by voluntary act of the
parties or in itsinitial creation.” 1d. at 921. In addi-
tion, “[a]s long as the parties are united in marriage
[as apparently are Mr. and Ms. Arthur], neither
spouse can effectively convey an interest in the es-
tate nor compel a partition of the property without
the other's consent.” Travis, supra, 360 A.2d at 509
(citing Ridgely, supra, 188 A.2d at 297) (other cita-
tions omitted); see also Roberts & Lloyd, Inc. v.
Zyblut, 691 A.2d 635, 638 (D.C.1997) (“[I]n the ab-
sence of an agreement to the contrary, each spouse
retains a tenancy by the entireties in the proceeds
from the sale of property held as a tenancy by the
entireties.”) (citation omitted); Verges v. Verges,
193 A.2d 208, 209 (D.C.1963) (“[W]here there is
no consent, and no divorce, the court is powerless
to partition or award to one party property held by
the entireties’) (citing Hogan v. Hogan, 102
U.S.App. D.C. 87, 250 F.2d 412 (1957)).

FN18. “Partition means the division of the
land held in cotenancy into the cotenants
respective fractional shares. If the land
cannot be fairly divided, then the entire es-
tate may be sold and the proceeds appro-
priately divided.” 7 RICHARD R. POW-
ELL, POWELL ON REAL PROPERTY §
50.07 at 50.37 (Michael Allan Wolf ed.,
2004).

Here, to support his argument that he is entitled to
the entire $14,500.00 sum, Mr. Arthur maintains
that “[he] consented to *488 the partition of the
funds held in the court registry when he filed his ...
[almended [c]ross-[c]laim against [Ms.] Arthur.”
And, “in her November 1997 letter, [Ms.] Arthur
consented to the partition by stating she withdrew
‘any claim or rights to refund or monies in ques-
tion.” " But, the District argues that “Ms. Arthur is
entitled to all of the proceeds pursuant to the 1981
Stipulation signed by Mr. Arthur's counsel in his
behalf” where he “expressly agreed that if the ori-
ginal defendants were not entitled to al of the
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$14,500 in satisfaction of the note in that amount,
the remaining portion should be disbursed ... to
[Mr.] Arthur and [Ms.] Arthur in accordance with
their equities in said property,” (emphasis in ori-
ginal); and furthermore, as to the respective equities
in the marital property, “the uncontradicted evid-
ence is that Ms. Arthur, by working, through her
family, and by her desperate loans, furnished the
down payment and made all of the mortgage pay-
ments on the house from 1976 to 1980 (to the ex-
tent that payments were made).”

FN19. The District does not represent Ms.
Arthur, and Ms. Arthur did not notice an
appeal in this case. Nor did the District file
a cross-appeal. Nevertheless, the District
has made arguments on appeal which sup-
port Ms. Arthur. Mr. Arthur contended that
the District lacked standing to raise claims
on behalf of Ms. Arthur, and prior to oral
argument moved to strike portions of the
District's brief. We denied his motion to
strike. The District has standing because it
confronts “an actual or imminently
threatened injury” that is, the potential li-
ability to pay interest to Mr. Arthur. See
Friends of Tilden Park, Inc. v. District of
Columbia, 806 A.2d 1201, 1206-07
(D.C.2002); Hazel v. Barry, 580 A.2d 110,
111 (D.C.1990); Hooker v. Edes Home,
579 A.2d 608, 612 n. 9 (D.C.1990). Be-
cause Ms. Arthur is not pressing a claim of
interest against the District, if it is decided
that she-- not Mr. Arthur-- owns the under-
lying property (and, with it, any claim to
the interest)-- the District will have no ob-
ligation to pay interest. Thus, the District
has a direct financial stake in supporting
the position that Ms. Arthur is the owner of
the underlying funds.

[6] Relying on Roberts & Lloyd and Finley, supra,
the trial court correctly applied some of the funda-
mental principles relating to property held by a hus-
band and wife. The trial court ruled, however, that:
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“There has been no unequivocal effort by Mr. and
M[s]. Arthur to have the property conveyed in a
form other than as tenants by the entiret[ies],” and
therefore, “[sluch property remains a tenancy by
the entireties even if it moves from realty to chattle
or cash, which is what happened here.” In reaching
this conclusion, the trial court did not specifically
consider evidence regarding the respective equities
of Mr. and Ms. Arthur; nor did it consider specific-
ally, evidence (such as Ms. Arthur's written com-
munication of November 1997, and her subsequent
July 2000 testimony or Mr. Arthur's amended
cross-claim against Ms. Arthur) relating to whether
either Ms. Arthur or Mr. Arthur actually sought and
consented to a partition; or whether they jointly
agreed to a partition of property held as tenants by
the entireties. In the absence of such findings, we
are constrained to direct that on remand the trial
court make findings as to whether Mr. and Ms. Ar-
thur have consented to a partition and, if they have
consented, as to their relative equities.

Interest on Funds Deposited in the Court Registry

We begin with background information relating to
the claims for interest. During his oral resolution of
issues on July 26, 2000, Judge Mize did not address
Mr. Arthur's claim for interest on sums deposited in
the court registry (the $14,500.00 in proceeds re-
maining from the sale of the marital home; and the
court-ordered $350.00 paid by Mr. Arthur). Instead,
Judge Mize informed the parties that they *489
should file post-trial motions. Neither the District
nor Mr. Arthur followed the trial court's suggestion.
Rather, the District submitted a brief on the interest
issue. And, Mr. Arthur lodged a motion for leave to
file a SIL:JRI%IgmentaI complaint; this motion was
denied. In its September 13, 2000 “brief on
the issue of interest” the District made several argu-
ments.':'\I 1 The trial court did not address the Dis-
trict's specific arguments, but in a short order filed
on October 4, 2000, “agree[d] with the District's [ ]
arguments that there is no legal basis for interest to
accrue in plaintiffs favor on the Stipulated Pro-
ceeds (or on $350 ordered to be returned to [Mr.]
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Arthur on August 31, 1999).” Because the February
1981 stipulation did not specify interest, Judge
Mize concluded “the parties waived their right [to
interest] by virtue of their signing the stipulation.”
The order did not mention specifically the constitu-
tional arguments under the Fifth Amendment
“takings’ clause, nor the discussion of that issuein
a hearing before Judge Bowers on December 19,
1997.

FN20. The supplemental complaint
tendered showed as defendants Ms. Arthur,
Mr. Kamins and the District. It contained
allegations and five counts relating to: (1)
a final accounting; (2) restitution; (3) con-
version; (4) fraud; and (5) a violation of
the Takings Clause of the Fifth Amend-
ment. On March 12, 1999, Mr. Arthur had
sought leave to file a virtually identical
supplemental complaint containing a Tak-
ings Clause claim.

FN21. The District's arguments included
the following: (1) No request for interest
was made in the February 1981 Stipula-
tion; (2) under Superior Court Administrat-
ive Order No. 94-26 relating to interest in-
come from funds held in the court registry
(not further identified except for the text),
Mr. Arthur was not entitled to interest; (3)
no statute nor court order required the Dis-
trict to place the sums deposited with the
court in an interest-bearing account (this
argument challenged “[p]laintiffs’ reliance
on Phillips v. Washington Legal Found.,
524 U.S. 156, 118 S.Ct. 1925, 141 L.Ed.2d
174 (1998) and Webb's Fabulous Pharms.,
[supra, note 8],” both involving interest is-
sues on deposited funds); (4) the doctrines
of laches and clean hands bar Mr. Arthur
from seeking interest; and (5) the District
government had no fiduciary duty toward
Mr. Arthur.

In post-appellate oral argument filings, the District
maintains that Mr. Arthur did not properly chal-
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lenge the trial court's order denying prejudgment
interest, and Mr. Arthur argues that he did and his
main brief on appeal discusses the issue. We are
satisfied that Mr. Arthur properly raised and ad-
dressed the interest issue in the trial court and on
appeal both in his main and reply briefs. Mr. Arthur
squarely raised the interest issue in his August 6,
1997, motion for summary judgment against the
District, even asserting that the interest earned on
the $14,850.00 sum from February 17, 1988 to Au-
gust 6, 1997, amounted to $8,000.00. And, in his
proposed conclusions of law, Mr. Arthur specific-
ally cited Webb's Fabulous Pharms., supra, note 8.
He aso had asserted the constitutional claim in his
earlier March 12, 1999 motion for leave to file sup-
plemental complaint. Count VI of that complaint
was styled, “Constitutional Violation: 5th Amend-
ment.” He claimed a “property right in the interest
that was earned, or should have been earned, on the
registry funds,” and alleged that his “property has
been taken by the defendants ... [without] just] ]
compensation.” A virtually identical claim was con-
tained in the supplemental complaint attached to his
August 18, 2000 motion for leave to file supple-
mental complaint. The trial court denied these mo-
tions.

In considering the arguments by Mr. Arthur, the
District, and amici curiae; in reviewing the trial
court's short order denying prejudgment interest
which does not specifically reflect consideration of
all arguments*490 presented to the court regarding
interest; and in examining the record as awhole, we
conclude that the purely legal question can be re-
solved in this appeal, but that part of the interest is-
sue must be remanded to the trial court for resolu-
tion of such factual questions as:

(1) How much interest, if any, has been earned on
each of the sums deposited with the Superior
Court? What was the amount of administrative
costs or bank fees incurred in administering each
of the sums deposited?

(2) If no interest was earned on the deposited
sums, or if interest on these sums was earned
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only in some but not al of the years since depos-
it, or if it is impossible to determine how much
interest may have been earned on these sums, did
the District have a fiduciary duty to see that in-
terest was earned, and that it could be computed?
Did Mr. Arthur's delay in or failure to serve Ms.
Arthur in 1982, as ordered by Judge Hannon, oc-
casion the difficulty in tracking the funds depos-
ited in the court registry and any interest earned
on those funds?

To facilitate final resolution of the interest question
through the application of pertinent legal principles
to the trial court's factual findings, which we review
under a clearly erroneous standard, we now address
the constitutional Fifth Amendment takings issue
since our review of purely legal questions is de
novo. See D.C.Code § 17-305 (2001); M. Pierre
Equip. Co., Inc. v. Griffith Consumers Co., 831
A.2d 1036, 1038 (D.C.2003) (“We review the legal
issues de novo.”).

Applying the principle of “interest follows princip-
al,” the Supreme Court of the United States held in
Phillips v. Washington Legal Found., 524 U.S. 156,
118 S.Ct. 1925, 141 L.Ed.2d 174 (1998) “that the
interest income generated by funds held in IOLTA
[Interest on Lawyers Trust Account] accounts is the
‘private property’ of the owner of the principal.” Id.
at 172, 118 S.Ct. 1925. However, the court did not
address whether there was an unconstitutional tak-
ing within the meaning of the Fifth Amendment
takings clause. Earlier, in Webb's Fabulous
Pharms., Inc. v. Beckwith, 449 U.S. 155, 101 S.Ct.
446, 66 L.Ed.2d 358 (1980), however, a case con-
cerning interest on an interpleader fund deposited
in a court registry, the Supreme Court reached the
guestion whether a “taking” had occurred under the
Fifth Amendment. In a narrowly crafted holding,
based in part upon the existence of a state statute,
the court declared:

FN22. The Fifth Amendment to the Consti-
tution of the United States provides in per-
tinent part: “[N]or shall private property be
taken for public use without just compens-

Page 17

ation.”

We hold that under the narrow circumstances
of this case-where there is a separate and distinct
state statute authorizing a clerk’s fee “for services
rendered” based upon the amount of principal de-
posited; where the deposited fund itself is con-
cededly private; and where the deposit in the
court's registry is required by state statute in or-
der for the depositor to avail itself of statutory
protection from claims of creditors and others-
Seminole County's taking unto itself, under
[Florida law], the interest earned on the inter-
pleader fund while it was in the registry of the
court was a taking violative of the Fifth and Four-
teenth Amendments. We express no view as to
the constitutionality of a statute that prescribes a
county's retention of interest earned, where the
interest would be the only return to the country
for services it renders.

Id. at 164-65, 101 S.Ct. 446. Not only did
Webb's Fabulous Pharms., reinforce “[t]he *491
usual and general rule ... that any interest on an
interpleaded and deposited fund follows the prin-
cipal and is to be allocated to those who are ulti-
mately to be the owners of that principal, ...,” id.
at 162, 101 S.Ct. 446 (citation omitted), but it
also emphasized that:

[A] State, by ipse dixit, may not transform private
property into public property without compensa-
tion, even for the limited duration of the deposit
in court. This is the very kind of thing that the
Taking Clause of the Fifth Amendment was
meant to prevent. That Clause stands as a shield
against the arbitrary use of governmental power.

Id. at 164, 101 S.Ct. 446.

[7] As its takings jurisprudence has evolved, the
Supreme Court has distinguished between two
types of takings, a “physical taking” and a
“regulatory taking.” See Brown v. Legal Found. of
Washington, 538 U.S. 216, 233, 123 S.Ct. 1406,
155 L.Ed.2d 376 (2003) (“The text of the Fifth
Amendment provides a basis for drawing a distinc-
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tion between physical takings and regulatory tak-
ings.”). Where there has been a physical taking, or
what is sometimes called a categorical taking or a
per se taking, just compensation is required in ac-
cordance with “a clear rule.” 1d. (“When the gov-
ernment physically takes possession of an interest
in property for some public purpose, it has a cat-
egorical duty to compensate the former owner ...")
(citing United States v. Pewee Coal Co., 341 U.S.
114, 115, 71 S.Ct. 670, 95 L.Ed. 809 (1951)). In
contrast, a regulatory taking, involving “regulations
that prohibit a property owner from making certain
uses of [his or] her private property,” id., “entails
complex factual assessments of the purposes and
economic effects of governmental actions,” id. at
234, 123 S.Ct. 1406, before ascertaining whether a
regulation amounts to an unconstitutional taking re-
quiring just compensation has occurred. See also
Tahoe-Serra Preservation Council, Inc. v. Tahoe
Reg'l Planning Agency, 535 U.S. 302, 321-24, 122
S.Ct. 1465, 152 L.Ed.2d 517 (2002).

[8] Where there “is a forced contribution to general
governmental revenues, and it is not reasonably re-
lated to the costs of using the courts,” Webb's Fab-
ulous Pharms., 449 U.S. at 163, 101 S.Ct. 446, an
unconstitutional taking, which may require just
compensation, has occurred. Whether such a
taking requires payment of just compensation de-
pends upon “the property owner's loss rather than
the government's gain.” Brown v. Legal Found. of
Washington, 538 U.S. 216, 235-36, 123 S.Ct. 1406,
155 L.Ed.2d 376 (2003). Here, as the Supreme
Court did in Brown, we “assume that [Mr. and/or
Ms. Arthur] retain[ ] the beneficial ownership of at
least a portion of the [ ] escrow deposits until all the
funds [are] disbursed at the [end of this litigation],
that those funds [have] generated some interest ...,

and that their *492 interest was taken for a
public use when it was ultimately turned over to the
[D.C. Treasurer].” Id. at 235, 123 S.Ct. 1406.
If the sums deposited in the court registry were
placed in interest bearing accounts initially, or if
the practice of Superior Court prior to 1994 or the
court's fiduciary obligations required placing volun-
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tary or court-ordered deposits in interest bearing ac-
counts, Webb's Fabulous Pharms., Inc., supra, note
8, dictates that the interest belonged to the owners
of the principal. We are loathe to interpret the si-
lence of February 9, 1981 stipulation between Mr.
Arthur and Mr. Kamins concerning interest as a
waiver of that constitutional right where its inclu-
sion would have benefitted both parties.

FN23. In light of this legal principle, the
District's argument that Mr. Arthur volun-
tarily deposited $14,450.00 in the court re-
gistry, and hence the takings clause does
not apply, is unavailing. While Mr. Arthur
voluntarily deposited the $14,450.00, but
not the $350.00, he did not by that action
signal that the government had a right to
take and use private funds resulting from
the sale of private property, including in-
terest thereon, in any way it deemed neces-
sary or appropriate.

FN24. Mr. Arthur believes that at least
$8,000.00 in interest has been (or should
have been) generated by the court registry
deposits between February 1988 and Au-
gust 1997, and amici estimate in their brief
that “[m]ore than $35,000.00 in interest
has accrued on these funds, as of June 30,
1998, though the actual amount is not de-
termined.” Apparently the Superior Court
is not required to, but may, place court re-
gistry funds in interest bearing accounts at
its discretion. See Super. Ct. Civ. R. 67.
Unlike Fed.R.Civ.P. 67, which was
amended in 1983, Super. Ct. Civ. R. 67
does not contain the language, “shall be
deposited in an interest-bearing account or
invested in an interest-bearing instrument
approved by the court.” In addition, Super-
ior Court Administrative Order No. 94-26,
adopted on November 2, 1994, provides:

Amounts ordered to be held in escrow in
the Court registry generally do not
provide any interest income payable to a

© 2010 Thomson Reuters. No Claim to Orig. US Gov. Works.


http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&FindType=Y&SerialNum=2003237249
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=708&FindType=Y&SerialNum=1951120014
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=708&FindType=Y&SerialNum=1951120014
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=708&FindType=Y&SerialNum=1951120014
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&FindType=Y&SerialNum=1951120014
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=708&FindType=Y&SerialNum=2003237249
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=708&FindType=Y&SerialNum=2003237249
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=708&FindType=Y&SerialNum=2003237249
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=708&FindType=Y&SerialNum=2002254054
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=708&FindType=Y&SerialNum=2002254054
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=708&FindType=Y&SerialNum=2002254054
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=708&FindType=Y&SerialNum=2002254054
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=708&FindType=Y&SerialNum=1980150202
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=708&FindType=Y&SerialNum=1980150202
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=708&FindType=Y&SerialNum=1980150202
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=708&FindType=Y&SerialNum=2003237249
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=708&FindType=Y&SerialNum=2003237249
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=708&FindType=Y&SerialNum=2003237249
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=708&FindType=Y&SerialNum=2003237249
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&FindType=Y&SerialNum=2003237249
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=708&FindType=Y&SerialNum=2003237249
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=708&FindType=Y&SerialNum=2003237249
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&FindType=Y&SerialNum=1980150202
http://www.westlaw.com/Find/Default.wl?rs=FIPI1.0&vr=2.0&DB=1004365&DocName=USFRCPR67&FindType=L

857 A.2d 473
(Citeas: 857 A.2d 473)

party in a case. Interest income from
amounts held in the registry is used to
offset various bank service charges and
to provide revenue for the District of
Columbia's General Fund.

In extraordinary circumstances where a
large sum is to be held by the Court for a
reasonably long period of time, a unique
interest bearing account can be estab-
lished to pay interest to designated
parties upon disposition. Before any or-
der establishing such an account is
entered, the approval of the Chief Judge
must be obtained.

Administrative Order No. 94-26 of
course did not exist when Mr. Arthur de-
posited the $14,500.00 sum and the man-
dated sum of $350.00 into the court re-

gistry.

FN25. During consideration of the interest
issue in 1997, the Fiscal Officer for the
District's courts, submitted an affidavit
stating in part: “It is the practice of the
District of Columbia Courts for all interest
earned on funds held in its general civil es-
crow account, be used to first pay bank
service charges, with the balance deposited
as revenue to the District's General Fund.”
(Schulthesis Aff. September 9, 1997).

[9] Thus, on remand, the trial court must determine
factually whether one or the other or both of the Ar-
thurs sustained “net losses’ since “any pecuniary
compensation must be measured by ... [their] net
losses rather than the value of the public's gain.” Id.
at 237, 123 S.Ct. 1406; see also Schneider v. Cali-
fornia Dep't of Corrs., 345 F.3d 716 (9th Cir.2003)
(Because “the Fifth Amendment does not proscribe
the taking of property [but] it proscribes taking
without just compensation,” on remand the trial
court must determine “whether the interest earned
by [the owner's] principal is exceeded by his [or
her] share of the costs of administering the
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[$14,850.00]"). Id. at 720, 721 (citation omitted). In
other words, the trial court must find whether there
would be any net return on any interest generated
by the $14,850.00. Without any factual findings as
to the administrative cost required to administer the
$14,850.00 sum, or the bank charges imposed, we
cannot at this stage of the litigation, determine
whether the Arthurs suffered “net losses’ on the
sums deposited in the court registry and transferred
to the D.C. Treasurer.

Accordingly, for the foregoing reasons, we vacate
the judgment in this matter and remand the case to
the trial court with instructions to address three
matters consistent with this opinion: (1) the appro-
priate standard governing its decision to vacate the
entry of default against Ms. Arthur; (2) the question
of ownership of the $14,500.00 principal paid into
the court registry, and whether Mr. and Ms. Arthur
have consented to a partition of their marital prop-
erty which they acquired as tenants by the entireties
and if they have *493 consented, their relative
equities in the property; and (3) the determination
of how much, if any, interest was earned on the
$14,500.00 principal sum and the court-ordered
$350.00 security deposited in the court registry and
later transferred to the District's general fund, and
whether the District had a fiduciary duty to see that
interest was earned and computed.

So ordered.

D.C.,2004.
Arthur v. District of Columbia
857 A.2d 473
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